2008

Maurine J. Lloyd, an individual v. Cynthia M. Lloyd,
an individual, Dennis S. Lloyd, an individual, and
all persons unknown claiming any right, title or
interest and/or lien upon the real property
described in the complaint adverse to the plaintiff's
ownership or clouding title thereto : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case involves a Stipulation and Agreement for Court Supervised Sale of Real Property (the “Stipulation”) that provided for the sale of certain real property (the “Subject Property.”) Pursuant to the Stipulation, the Subject Property was listed with Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Bankers for six months (from July 10, 2007 to January 10, 2008) with a minimum sales price of \$9.50 per square foot. By January 10, 2008 - the end of that sales period - the Subject Property had not sold.

At a May 19, 2008 status conference, plaintiff made an oral motion to extend the sales period for an additional six months. Under the Stipulation, the Court had authority to extend the sales period for an additional six months if the Court found that it was “likely” that the Subject Property would sell for not less than \$9.50 per square foot within that extended sales period. Plaintiff presented no evidence at that hearing or thereafter that it was “likely” that the Subject Property would sell for not less than \$9.50 per square foot during an extended

sales period.

The Court nevertheless granted that motion and also changed the real estate agent from Ralph Riedel to Equity Real Estate, eliminated the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price and held that the six month extension would begin to run from the date the listing agreement with the new real estate agent was signed. The Stipulation did not authorize the trial court to make those changes. Defendants thereafter filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal from that Order, which was granted.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Where a Stipulation and Agreement for Court Supervised Sale of Real Property (the "Stipulation") authorized the trial court to extend the sales period for the "Subject Property" for an additional six (6) months if "the Court [was] persuaded that an additional six (6) months sales period [would] likely result in the sale of the Subject Property [for not less than \$9.50 per square/foot]," did the trial court error in extending the sales period for the Subject Property for an additional six months based on the evidence that was presented in support of that extension?

2. Did the trial court have authority under the Stipulation to change the real estate

agent from “Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Banker” to “Equity Real Estate,” to eliminate the \$9.50 per square foot sales price minimum set forth in the Stipulation, or to extend the sales period for the Subject Property beyond July 10, 2008?

3. If the trial court did have authority under the Stipulation to make the changes referenced in paragraph 2, did the trial court nevertheless error in making the changes referenced in paragraph 2 since plaintiff did not request those changes in her motion?

4. If the trial court did have authority under the Stipulation to make the changes referenced in paragraph 2, did the trial court nevertheless error in making the changes referenced in paragraph 2 based on the evidence that was presented in support of those changes?

5. Should appellants be awarded their attorney's fees on appeal?

ISSUES PRESERVED IN TRIAL COURT

The foregoing issues were preserved in the trial court inasmuch as defendants opposed plaintiff's oral motion to extend the sales period. R. 446-448, 726-732.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the Stipulation, the trial court had authority to extend the sales period for six

months only if it found that such an extension would “likely result” in the sale of the Subject Property for not less than \$9.50 per square foot. The standard for reviewing that decision is abuse of discretion. Whether the trial court had authority under the Stipulation to make the other changes objected to is reviewed for correctness. See Craig Food Industries, Inc. vs. Weihing, 746 P.2d 279 (Utah App. 1987).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On September 30, 1997, Maurine Lloyd quit-claimed certain property located at 13413 South Minuteman Drive, Draper, Utah (the “Property”) to Cynthia M. Lloyd and Dennis S. Lloyd. R. 8.
2. On October 7, 2003, Maurine Lloyd filed a Complaint against Cynthia M. Lloyd and Dennis S. Lloyd in this case (the “Action”) to void that transfer. R. 1-7.
3. On June 12, 2007, Maurine Lloyd, Cynthia M. Lloyd and Dennis S. Lloyd, the parties to the Action, and Susan L. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez, non-parties to the Action, entered into a Stipulation and Agreement for a Court Supervised Sale of Real Property (the “Stipulation.”) R. 395-407. See Addendum A attached hereto.
4. Under the Stipulation, the Property was to be placed on the market for sale for

six (6) months, together with five other contiguous parcels of property (collectively, the “Subject Property”)¹:

<u>Parcel No.</u>	<u>Owner</u>
34-06-101-020	Susan L. Schelin (Martinez)
34-06-101-021	Richard D. and Susan L. Martinez
34-06-101-003	Dennis S. and Cynthia M. Lloyd
34-06-101-004	Dennis S. and Cynthia M. Lloyd
34-06-101-005	Dennis S. and Cynthia M. Lloyd

See Stipulation, pg.1. (R. 399.)

5. The Stipulation provided that the Subject Property would be listed for six (6) months “with Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Banker Commercial” and “marketed for sale at the highest possible sale price” but for “no less than \$9.50/square foot:”

The parties agree to retain the services of real estate agent/broker Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Banker Commercial (the “Listing Agent”) to list the Subject Property and market the Subject Property for sale at the highest possible sale price, no less then \$9.50/square foot based on a raw land square foot value, and at the lowest possible costs of sale.

¹The parties to the Stipulation believed that if the six parcels were sold together they would have a greater value than if sold separately. Stipulation, pg. 2. (R. 400.)

Id. at ¶ 3. (R. 401.)

6. The Stipulation authorized the trial court to extend the sales period for an additional six (6) months if “the Court [was] persuaded that an additional six (6) months sale period [would] likely result in the sale of the Subject Property [for not less than \$9.50 per square/foot]:”

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the sale period may be extended for an additional six (6) months, by Court order, provided that the Court is persuaded that an additional six (6) month sale period will likely result in the sale of the Subject Property, or by stipulation of the parties.

Id. at ¶ 7. (R. 402.)

7. The Stipulation provided that during the six month sales period the Action would be stayed:

The Action shall be stayed for a period of six (6) months from the date of the Court’s order on this Stipulation with an option for another six (6) months as provided herein....

Id. at ¶ 3. (R. 401.)

8. If the Court extended the sales period for an additional six months, the Action would also be stayed during that extended sales period. Id.

9. If the Subject Property was sold within six months for “not less than \$9.50 a square foot,” or within an additional six months if the trial court extended the sales period an additional six months, then the sales proceeds would be disbursed as provided in the Stipulation and the Action would be dismissed with prejudice. Id. at ¶ 8 (R. 403.)

10. If the Subject Property was not sold within six months for “not less than \$9.50 a square foot,” or within an additional six months if the trial court extended the sales period, then the stay on prosecution of the Action would be lifted and the Stipulation would be “void ab initio, of no force or effect:”

If escrow is not opened for the sale of the Subject Property within six (6) months of the date of the Court’s order on this Stipulation in an amount of not less than \$9.50 per square foot based on a raw land square foot market value of the Subject Property, then the stay of the Action shall be lifted and prosecution of this matter shall proceed.

If the sale of the Subject Property is not concluded within six (6) months or a year as the case may be, then this Stipulation and Agreement to Sell Real Property shall be void ab initio, of no force or effect, the parties shall be restored to their positions status quo ante and nothing contained herein, including any recital, shall constitute an admission of law or fact by or against any party.

Id. at ¶ 7. (R. 402.)

11. On July 10, 2007, the Court entered an Order accepting the Stipulation. (R. 407.)

12. On or about July 10, 2007, the Subject Property was listed with Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Bankers Commercial.

13. By January 10, 2008, the Subject Property had not sold.

14. By April 14, 2008, no motion had been filed (nor had any other request been made) to extend the sales period. See Docket.

15. On April 14, 2008, defendants filed a Request for Rule 16 Scheduling Conference. R. 440.

16. On May 19, 2008, a scheduling conference was held. R. 442.

17. At that scheduling conference, plaintiff's counsel made an oral motion to extend the sales period for an additional six months, and the Court immediately agreed:

MS. CROCKER: I would really like to see the property re-listed, given another shot in this, you know, the spring and summer time to see if we can get it back under contract. If it

doesn't go under contract during the best time of the year, then we'd love to be back before you, but I think that we should give it another shot.

...

THE COURT: I don't see any reason why it shouldn't be listed for sale while we're waiting for the trial.

MR. CLINE: Well, ... the settlement agreement has expired at this point...

R. 726-27.

18. Defendants requested that such a motion be made in writing, but the trial court declined that request and gave defendants 15 days to respond to plaintiff's oral motion:²

²Susan L. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez, both non-parties to the Action, had signed the Stipulation and included two parcels of property as part of the "Subject Property." One parcel was owned by both Susan L. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez and one parcel was owned by Susan L. Martinez. Under the Stipulation, they submitted themselves to the jurisdiction of the Court. Billie Crocker, attorney for plaintiff, represented Susan L. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez for purposes of negotiating the Stipulation. R. 424. Ms. Crocker's appearance at the May 19, 2008 and October 28, 2008 hearings and in related pleadings were only on behalf of the plaintiff (Maurine Lloyd). Ms. Crocker did not enter an appearance on behalf of Susan L. Martinez or Richard D. Martinez at those hearings or otherwise. Plaintiff's motion and the Court's ruling thereon substantively effect Susan L. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez's right since the "Subject Property" includes property belonging to them. Based on the trial court record, Susan C. Martinez and Richard D. Martinez have not yet appeared or been apprised of plaintiff's motion or of the Court's ruling thereon.

MS. CROCKER: If we can get that extended for an additional six-month period, that would be our request today.

MR. CLINE: Your Honor, if she wants to make that motion I would request she does it in writing, we'd have an opportunity to respond.

THE COURT: I'll give you 15 days to respond to her [oral motion.]

R. 726-27.

19. At the May 19, 2008 hearing, plaintiff moved for a six month extension, but there was no evidence presented as to whether such an extension would “likely result in a sale of the Subject Property” at not less than \$9.50 a square foot. R. 726-732.

20. On June 2, 2008, defendants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Extend Agreement for a Court Supervised Sale of Real Property. R. 446-448.

21. On June 13, 2008, plaintiff filed a Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Extend (the “Reply Memorandum”). R. 453-456.

22. On August 5, 2008, the Court entered a Minute Entry Ruling granting plaintiff's motion. R. 515-516.

23. In her Reply Memorandum, plaintiff's counsel alleged that she “presented a

listing packet at the [May 19, 2008] hearing prepared by Equity Real Estate indicating that a sale of the property over the next six months was likely.” R. 450.

24. As evidenced by the transcript of the May 19, 2008 hearing, no such “listing packet” was presented (or mentioned) at that hearing. R. 724-732.

25. No such “listing packet” was attached to plaintiff’s Reply Memorandum or has otherwise been made part of the record in this case. R. 449-452.

26. The Form of Order submitted by plaintiff changed the listing agent to “Equity Real Estate,” did not include the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price requirement and did not specify when the six-month extension began and ended. R. 592-93.

27. In her oral motion at the May 19, 2008 hearing, plaintiff did not move to change the listing agent, to eliminate the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price or to change the date the six month extension began. (Under the Stipulation, a six month extension would begin on January 10, 2008 - the date the first sales period ended - and end on July 10, 2008 - six months later.) R. 724-732.

28. On August 28, 2008, defendants filed an Objection to Form of Order. R. 590-

93.

29. On October 28, 2008, a hearing was held on defendants' Objection to Form of Order.

R. 645.

30. At that hearing, defendants' counsel objected to changing the real estate agent from Ralph Reidel to Equity Real Estate. R. 734-737.

31. Defendants' counsel also noted that under the Stipulation any six month extension would run for six-months from the date the first sales period ended (i.e., would run for six months from January 10, 2008):

MR. CLINE: [M]y reading of the stipulation is that it was six months from January 10th of 2008 until July 10th of 2008, was the six-month extension, which would be six months after the original six-month date. And so by the time that was finally submitted to the Court and ruled on, that six-month period of time would have already passed. And -

THE COURT: If I recall, that deal is that if it hasn't been listed and they're waiting for the Court to make a decision and you file something, doesn't really make much sense to say, Well, gee, it should have been listed from January to June and now it's August so you're time as listed is already running even though the Court didn't have a hearing, an order until after the time was up.

MR. CLINE: Right. And the response to that was if they, as that January 10th, 2008, time approached and it hadn't been sold, at that point if they, if plaintiff had wanted to take advantage of that six-month period, they should have filed back in December or January, but they didn't. They waited until May.

R. 735-736.

32. Defendants also objected at the hearing to deleting the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price from the Order. R. 734-736.

33. The Court overruled all three objections. R. 739-741.

34. On December 4, 2008, the Court entered an Order changing the listing agent from Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Bank to "Equity Real Estate" and eliminating the requirement that any offer on the Property must be for at least \$9.50 a square foot. See Addendum B hereto. R. 649-650.

35. The Order provides that the extended sales period will begin from the date the new listing agreement is signed. See Addendum B. ¶2. R. 649-650. ("The sale period of the subject property is extended for six months, such period to begin upon execution by all parties of the listing agreement with Equity Real Estate.")

36. As to any offers below \$9.50 per square feet, the Order provides that “[o]ffers to purchase shall be presented to the Court for consideration if the parties cannot agree upon acceptance.” See Addendum B. ¶ 3. R. 649-650.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the Stipulation, the trial court could only extend the sales period if it found that a sale of the Subject Property during the extended sales period at not less than \$9.50 per square foot was “likely.” The trial court erred in extending the sales period because there was no evidence that it was “likely” that the Subject Property would sell at not less than \$9.50 per square foot if such an extension was granted.

The Stipulation did not grant the trial court authority to change the real estate agent, to eliminate the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price or to extend an extended sales period beyond July 10, 2008. Because the Stipulation did not grant the trial court authority to make those changes, the trial court erred in doing so.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRORED IN EXTENDING THE SALES PERIOD.

The trial court erred in extending the sales period for six (6) months. The Stipulation granted the trial court authority to extend the sales date only if it found that such an extension would “likely result” in sale of the Subject Property at not less than \$9.50 a square foot. At no time did plaintiff present any evidence to the Court that such an extension would “likely result” in the sale of the property for not less than \$9.50 per square foot. The issue of whether such an extension would “likely result” in a sale of the Subject Property for not less than \$9.50 a square foot was never discussed at the May 19, 2008 hearing.

In her Reply Memorandum, plaintiff's counsel claimed that she submitted a “listing packet” from Equity Real Estate at the May 19, 2008 hearing that indicated that such an extension would “likely result” in a sale of the Subject Property for not less than \$9.50 a square foot. See Reply Memorandum (“plaintiff presented a listing packet at the [May 19, 2008] hearing prepared by Equity Real Estate indicating that a sale of the property over the next six months was likely.”) R. 450. The transcript from the May 19, 2008 hearing

demonstrates that no such “listing packet” was introduced, or even mentioned, at that hearing.

R. 726-732. That “listing packet” was never made part of the record.

In challenging a finding of fact, the appellant must “marshal all evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact.” Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991.) In this case, there is no evidence to “marshal” since plaintiff presented no evidence that the Subject Property would likely sell for not less than \$9.50 a square foot during an extension period.

It was an abuse of discretion to extend the sales period when there was no evidence that it was “likely” that the Subject Property would sell for not less than \$9.50 per square foot during an extended sales period. See, e.g., Burke v. Lewis, 122 P.3d 533, 535 (Utah 2005) (“[D]iscretion has been abused if the trial court takes any action beyond the sphere of its discretion.”) Where there is no evidence to support a finding, the Order which is based on that finding must be vacated. See e.g., Hathaway v. United Tintic Mines Co., 132 P. 388, 389 (Utah 1913) (“no court should permit itself to make a finding of fact where the record is

conclusive, as in this case, that there is absolutely no evidence to support such a finding.”)
With no evidence before the trial court to support a finding that a six month extension would
“likely result” in a sale of the Subject Property at not less than \$9.50 a square foot, the trial
court abused its discretion in granting that extension and the Order should be vacated.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT HAVE AUTHORITY UNDER THE STIPULATION
TO MAKE OTHER CHANGES TO THE MANNER OF SALE.

Even if the Court did not error in extending the sales period, the Court did not have
authority under the Stipulation to change the real estate agent from Ralph Riedel to Equity
Real Estate, to eliminate the requirement that the Subject Property sell for not less than \$9.50
a square foot or to extend the sales period past July 10, 2008. The courts are “bound by
stipulations between parties.” Yeargin, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Com’n, 20
P.3d 287, 292 (Utah 2001.) A stipulation “restrict[s]” the trial court’s discretion to act. In re:
Adoption of E.H., 103 P.3d 177, 182 (Utah App. 2004). Where the Stipulation does not give
the Court authority to act, the Court does not have authority to do so, absent consent of all the
parties to the Stipulation.

A. The trial court erred in changing the listing agent to Equity Real Estate. Under

the Stipulation, the parties agreed that the real estate agent would be Ralph Riedel of Coldwell Banker. The Stipulation did not give the Court authority to change the real estate agent. Defendants did not agree to list their property with Equity Real Estate, nor does the Stipulation provide the trial court discretion to change the real estate agent without defendants' consent.

The Stipulation was an “agreement for a Court supervised sale of real property.” R. 396. The Stipulation specifically sets forth the agreed upon authority granted to the Court in supervising the sale of the Subject Property. For example, the Stipulation expressly provided that the “sale period may be extended for an additional six (6) months, by Court orders, provided that the Court is persuaded that an additional six (6) months sale period will likely result in the sale of the Subject Property [at not less than \$9.50 per square foot.]” R. 402-403. However, the Stipulation did not give the Court authority to change the real estate agent agreed to by the parties in the Stipulation. The Court did not have authority to change the terms and conditions of sale that the parties agreed to under the Stipulation, except as expressly granted to the Court thereunder or as agreed to by the parties. The Court erred in

changing the real estate agent to Equity Real Estate since it had no authority to do so under the Stipulation.

B. The Court did not have authority to eliminate the \$9.50 per square foot minimum.

The Stipulation provided that the Subject Property would be sold “at the highest possible sales price, [but] no less than \$9.50 square foot...” R. 401. The Stipulation also provides that “[i]f escrow is not opened for the sale of the Subject Property within six (6) months of the date of the Court’s order on this stipulation in the amount of not less than \$9.50 per square foot..., the stay of the action shall be lifted.” R. 402. The Court was not granted authority under the Stipulation to eliminate the \$9.50 per square foot minimum sales price. The Court erred in ordering the Subject Property to be placed on the market for sale without a \$9.50 minimum sales price, since it had no authority to do so under the Stipulation.

C. The trial court did not have authority to extend the sales period past July 10, 2008.

The Stipulation provided that the “sales period” may be extended for six months, if the Court finds that it is “likely” that the Subject Property will sell for not less than \$9.50 a square foot during that extended sales period. The initial “sales period” under the Stipulation was from

July 10, 2007 to January 10, 2008. Accordingly, a six month extension of that sales period would be from January 10, 2008 to July 10, 2008. The Stipulation only gave the Court authority to extend the “sales period” for six months. Since the first “sales period” was from July 10, 2007 to January 10, 2008, a six (6) month extension would be from January 10, 2008 until July 10, 2008. The Court erred in extending the sales period beyond July 10, 2008 since that change exceeded the scope of the discretion granted to the Court under the Stipulation.

In this case, plaintiff did not make her motion to extend the sales period until the May 19, 2008 scheduling conference, over four (4) months after the initial sales period had ended. If plaintiff wanted the full benefit of an extended sales period, she should have made her motion in November or December, 2007, prior to the expiration of the initial sales period on January 10, 2008.

III. THE COURT ERRORED IN MAKING THE OTHER CHANGES

Even if the Court did have authority to make the three changes discussed above, the Court erred in making those changes since none of them were requested in plaintiff's

motion and there was no factual basis supporting those changes.

A. None of those changes were requested in plaintiff's motion. None of those three provisions in the Order (changing the real estate agent, eliminating the \$9.50 a square foot minimum and using the date the listing agreement with Equity Real Estate was signed to start the six month extension) were requested in plaintiff's May 19, 2008 motion. All of those changes appeared for the first time in plaintiff's Reply Memorandum or thereafter. Since those changes were not part of plaintiff's motion, the Court erred in including them in the Order.

B. There was no factual basis supporting those changes. There was also no factual basis to support those three changes. There was no evidence that Ralph Riedel would not perform satisfactorily, or that Equity Real Estate would provide superior performance. There was no evidence that the real estate market will never recover and that it is in the best interest of the parties to the Stipulation to sell the Subject Property at any price. There was also no evidence that a January 10, 2008 to July 10, 2008 extension was not a satisfactory extension period. The trial court also erred in making those changes since there was no factual basis

to support making any of those changes.

IV. DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL.

The Stipulation provides that “[i]n the event of any controversy relating to or arising from this Stipulation” the “prevailing party” shall be entitled to attorney’s fees:

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