2008

Maurine J. Lloyd v. Cynthia M. Lloyd, Dennis S. Lloyd, and all other persons unknown claiming other persons unknown claiming any right, title, or interest and/or lien upon the real property described in this pleading adverse to the plaintiff's ownership or clouding title thereto : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court was persuaded that an extension of the sale period would likely result in a sale of the Subject Property and correctly granted the requested extension as

authorized by the Stipulation (Paragraph 7). Likewise, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by reminding the parties in its order of December 4, 2008 that the court was authorized by Paragraph 5 of the Stipulation to review offers to purchase if the parties could not agree upon acceptance. The trial court's decision to enforce the terms of the Stipulation should not be reversed unless it was an abuse of discretion. Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938, 942 (Utah 1987).

The defendants have inaccurately marshaled the evidence and claim that there are no facts supporting the trial court's decision. The trial court considered the following: 1) that the Subject Property had previously been under contract 2) that the contract for purchase had failed and that the listing agent had withdrawn his services, 3) that the defendants were not cooperating with the listing or sale of the Subject Property, 4) that opportunities for a sale of the Subject Property still existed and 5) that the summer market was approaching and would be a good time to get the Subject Property back on the market. In light of these facts, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it reasonably concluded that an additional six month sale period would likely result in the sale of the Subject Property.

The court did not err in appointing a listing agent since the realtor chosen by the parties had withdrawn, the parties could not agree on a replacement, and the appointment was required in order to accomplish the stated goals of the Stipulation. Courts possess

inherent powers to make decisions that ensure the pursuit of a just process and result. Burke v. Lewis, 122 P.3d 533, 538 (Utah 2005).

The Stipulation has not expired because the Subject Property could not be “actively marketed” as required by the Stipulation unless a Listing Agreement was signed by all parties and in full force and effect. The defendants admit that the realtor resigned, that counsel was unavailable and that they would not sign a new Listing Agreement. Therefore, the extended sale period has never started.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ENFORCING THE TERMS OF THE STIPULATION AND EXTENDING THE SALE PERIOD

The law favors settlement of disputes and enforcement of settlements between the parties litigant should be encouraged. Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938, 942, 946-947 (Utah 1987). In this matter, the Stipulation clearly provides that “the sale period may be extended for an additional six (6) months, by Court order, provided that the Court is persuaded that an additional six (6) month sale period will likely result in the sale of the Subject Property”. R. 403. This provision says nothing about list price or sale price although the defendants have consistently inserted an additional requirement in Paragraph 7 that the extension would likely result in the sale of the Subject Property “for not less than \$9.50 per square foot”. See Appellant’s Brief at pages 4 and 6, 10, 14. If the defendants wanted Paragraph 7 to read exactly this way, then they should have written

the document as they now read it as they were the drafters. The clear language of the Stipulation, however, only requires that the Court be persuaded that that an extension would likely result in a sale.

In extending the sale period, the trial court considered the following: 1) that the Subject Property had previously been under contract 2) that the contract for purchase had failed and that the listing agent had withdrawn his services, 3) that the defendants were not cooperating with the listing or sale of the Subject Property, 4) that the defendants were not represented by counsel for an extended period of time, 5) that opportunities for a sale of the Subject Property still existed and 6) that the summer market was approaching and would be a good time to get the Subject Property back on the market. Factual findings serving as a predicate for the trial court's actions will be disturbed only if they are clearly erroneous. Grayson v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989) In light of these facts, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it reasonably concluded that an additional six month sale period would likely result in the sale of the Subject Property.

In addition to the facts noted above, the trial court was also presented with information that a new realtor was willing to list the property. The defendants claim that the Listing Packet prepared by Equity Real Estate is a fact that should not be considered as the Packet is not reflected in the record. The Packet clearly exists and was presented to the defendants. See Addendum D. This Court in Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938, 943 (Utah 1987). held that when crucial matters are not in the record, the missing

portions are presumed to support the trial judge. Therefore, the existence and information contained in the Listing Packet is presumed to be additional evidence available to the trial judge in support of his decision.

Courts have the power to summarily enforce settlement agreements and it would have been an abuse of discretion for the trial court not to have extended the sale period as there appears to be no reason for the defendants' noncompliance. See In Re Adoption of E.H., 103 P.3d 177, 185 (Utah App. 2004). The defendants interfered with the first sale, were uncooperative with the listing agent, their counsel was unavailable for months and they failed to execute a second listing agreement.

Considering all evidence presented by the plaintiff and the non-existence of any evidence that the Subject Property would not sell, the trial court's decision to extend the sale period was predicated on an overwhelming amount of facts any of which could have persuaded the court that an extension was reasonable and likely to result in a sale. The extension was authorized by the Stipulation (Paragraph 7) and should not be overturned.

II. THE TRIAL COURT IS AUTHORIZED BY THE STIPULATION TO REVIEW OFFERS TO PURCHASE IF THE PARTIES CANNOT AGREE AGREE UPON ACCEPTANCE

The defendants claim that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering that "Offers to purchase shall be presented to the court for consideration if the parties cannot agree upon acceptance". This Order is authorized by Paragraph 5 of the Stipulation which provides for judicial review of proffered offers if any party "fails, refuses to

cooperate, fails to perform in accordance with the terms of the Agreement to Sell Real Property or otherwise acts as an impediment to the sale of the Subject Property”. In light of the defendants’ failures to cooperate and obvious avoidance of the new realtor, Judge Dever was merely anticipating resolution of future disagreements between the parties by reminding the parties that the court had the power to review and order a sale if the parties did not cooperate when offers were received.

The defendants also claim that the Order eliminated the requirement that the property be marketed for no less than \$9.50 per square foot. This is not true. The Order made no decision to summarily accept any offer presented regardless of price and the Listing Agreement proposed suggests that the property be marketed for \$10.00 per square foot, an amount exceeding the minimum required by the Stipulation. The defendants’ argument that the Order somehow affected the list price or the ultimate selling price has no merit.

III. THE TRIAL COURT HAS INHERENT AUTHORITY TO APPOINT A NEW REALTOR WERE THE STIPULATION IS AMBIGUOUS AND THE APPOINTMENT IS NEEDED TO ENSURE THE PURSUIT OF A JUST PROCESS AND RESULT

Courts of general jurisdiction have the inherent power to make and enforce all necessary rules and orders calculated to enforce the orderly conduct of their business and secure justices between parties litigant. Peterson v. Evans, 55 Utah 505, 188 P. 152, 153 (Utah 1920). Courts possess inherent powers to ensure the pursuit of a just process and result. Burke Lewis, 122 P.3d 533, 538 (Utah 2005).

In this case, the Stipulation is ambiguous with respect to the rights and duties of the parties if the realtor selected by them withdraws. In such an instance it is proper for the trial court to take evidence necessary to establish the terms of the agreement and appellate review is “strictly limited”. Craig v. Weihing, 746 P.2d 279, 282, 283 (Utah 1987). The appellate courts do not lightly disturb such findings. Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 200 (Utah 1991). The trial court considered the facts (R. 725, 726, 737-739) and appointed a new realtor in order to accomplish the goals of the Stipulation. A “just process and result” could not be ensured and the intent of the stipulation could not be completed without appointment of a new realtor. This is consistent with the intent of the parties and local industry standards and state regulations that require a property marketed for sale to be formally listed for sale with a licensed realtor.

IV. THE STIPULATION HAS NOT EXPIRED AS THE SECOND SALE PERIOD HAS YET TO BEGIN

The trial court rejected the defendants argument that the mere passage of time exceeding two consecutive six month periods was enough to satisfy the marketing periods contemplated by the Stipulation. The trial court specifically noted that it made no sense to count this time against the plaintiff when the defendants were actively filing motions and refusing to list the property. R. 734-735.

At the time that the listing agent, Ralph Reidel, withdrew his representation, the defendants’ counsel had filed a Notice of Unavailability and their current counsel admits that he did not appear until April 2008. R. 435-437 and R. 733. The motion to extend

the sale was made in May 2008. The plaintiffs were certainly not responsible for any delay in marketing and should not lose the opportunity to extend the sale period as clearly authorized by Paragraph 7 of their Stipulation.

The trial court considered these facts and reasonably concluded that the goals of the Stipulation to “actively market” the Subject Property (See Paragraph 3 of the Stipulation, R. 401) could not be accomplished unless the property was properly listed and marketed for sale by a licensed realtor. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by ruling that the extended sale period could not begin until a valid Listing Agreement is signed.

**V. THE PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF HER ATTORNEYS
FEES INCURRED IN THIS APPEAL**

Paragraph 11, Section E of the Stipulation (R. 404) provides that the prevailing party is entitled to recover attorneys’ fees, court costs and other expenses on appeal in the event of any controversy relating to or arising from the Stipulation. In the event that the appellee is the prevailing party on appeal, this Court should award appellees her attorneys’ fees incurred on appeal.

CONCLUSION

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in extending the sale period as it was presented with sufficient information to persuade the court that an extension would likely result in the sale of the Property. Judge Dever’s Order of December 4, 2008 did not alter the terms of the Stipulation, affect the rights of the parties or materially affect the final

decision of the case as the Order merely served to implement the terms of the parties' Stipulation and made no other decisions regarding sale of the Property. The Order does not alter the listing price but merely restates Paragraph 5 of the Stipulation which provides for judicial review of proffered offers if an offer is presented and the parties cannot agree upon its acceptance. Nowhere in the Order is the sale price or listing price reduced. In light of the Petitioners failure to cooperate, Judge Dever was merely anticipating resolution of future disagreements between the parties by clarifying the Stipulation and the need to execute a listing agreement in order to begin the extended sale period. There has been no abuse of discretion and the trial court's enforcement of the Stipulation and extension of the sale period should be upheld.